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Juliett Platoon worked as a team, the way we were trained. One for all and all for one. All the men of Juliett Platoon have their own stories to tell. Some may be more accurate, some may not be. This is my story as seen through my eyes from my position within the platoon.

I owe my getting back to the States alive to the professionalism of the officers and enlisted men of Juliett Platoon. What a lucky man I am to be alive.

DARRYL YOUNG
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“Courage is
almost a contradiction in terms.
It means a strong desire to live
taking the form of a readiness to die.”

                                G.A. CHESTERSON

I arrived at Coronado Naval Amphibious Base in San Diego California in August of 1969 as a brand new naval ensign. Like the rest of the officers and men in my Underwater Demolition Team (UDT) training class, I wanted to become part of the best of the best, the United States Navy SEAL (Sea Air Land) Teams. For officers and chief petty officers, UDT training was preceded by a two-week indoctrination course which introduced us to the handling of the “inflatable boat, small” (IBS), tried to prepare our bodies for the coming physical assault—which no one could truly prepare for—and to provide leadership during the stress of training to come. Each day started with two hours of calisthenics, followed by IBS work, running in the sand, or ocean swims. The two weeks passed quickly and soon all 204 of us, officers and enlisted, were assembled as a training class, Class 54.

No one is forced to undergo UDT training; all must volunteer. Prior to assignment to the training, each of us had been screened to insure that we were physically, mentally, and psychologically ready to withstand the onslaught of the next six months. Even with the screening, historically about three-fourths of those who start UDT training fail to complete it. To quit, an individual merely had to throw his helmet down and say, “I quit.” With that, he was quickly removed from the training class and returned to the unit from which he came with no stigma attached.

The training brochure stated, “UDT training requires extremely high personal commitment and dedication to complete the course of instruction.” If there was ever anunderstatement, that was it. We soon realized the only easy day was yesterday. The minimum physical requirements for completion of training were to run the obstacle course in 10 minutes, swim 2 miles in the ocean with fins in 70 minutes, run 4 miles in 30 minutes, and 14 miles in 110 minutes on the beach in fatigues and combat boots.

Underwater demolition training was supervised by Naval Special Warfare officers but carried out by Special Warfare enlisted personnel who had ample combat experience in Vietnam and other wars. Among their other duties the enlisted instructors were to insure that the officers who completed UDT training were competent and that they themselves would be willing to serve under them in a combat environment. This was one of the unique aspects of the UDT and SEAL team training: officers were trained with the enlisted, by the enlisted, and were expected to perform in a manner superior to the enlisted personnel. Unlike other military units, where the officers were trained separately or were present merely to provide administrative support, the prospective UDT/SEAL officer went through every hurdle with the enlisted personnel. The officers were harassed, intimidated, and made examples of with apparent maliciousness. The instructors looked for even the slightest hint of resentment or anger, as these reactions have no place during a combat mission. A SEAL officer had to earn the right to command, it was not given to him.

The first four weeks of UDT/SEAL training were spent in physical conditioning, two hours in calisthenics every day, running on the beach in the sand wearing combat boots and fatigues for hours every day, and rowing the “inflatable boat, small” (IBS) with seven man crews of six enlisted and one officer. Every morning started with a spit and polish inspection with the most minute defect resulting in the offending individual’s “hitting the bay,” which meant jumping into 55-degree water fully clothed. This resulted in a lot of brass and boots to polish for the next day. If too many trainees failed the inspection, the entire class hit the bay, which was a common event. We ran everyplace we went. We ran over from the Bachelor Officer’s Quarters in the morning, ran in the training area, ran to lunch, ran everywhere. My jungle boots became custom molded to the bottoms of my feet.

The morning calisthenics were grueling: hundreds of sit-ups, push-ups, miles of duck walks, deep knee-bends, and more pull-ups than one could count. When the enlisted instructors thought you weren’t doing the pull-ups satisfactorily, you repeated them all. When they thought you weren’t meeting the requirements for sit-ups, they’d start off by standing on your stomach and if that didn’t improve things, they resorted to the side of a boot into your ribs. However, the harassment was always two-sided; you could always verbalize your thoughts—unless the instructors could figure out who had said what, then you’d duck walk for miles.

Every day we thought our weary bodies wouldn’t go any further. Evenings were spent shining brass and boots, getting ready for the next day, and going to sleep as fast as we could. Each day our evolutions were more difficult, the physical requirements increased, each at a faster pace with the instructors tolerating no errors. Physical and mental harassment were combined to maximize the stress on each individual. On one hand, the instructors would say, “If you want the pain to stop, then just quit.” On the other hand they continued to tell you, “You can do it, it’s merely mind over matter.” Every day the training increased and every day there were fewer in our class, which meant more individualized harassment for those of us who were left. One of the worst days was the triple threat: two hours of calisthenics in the morning, a mile jog in formation to the obstacle course, completion of the obstacle course, followed by a four mile timed run on the beach.

The obstacle course was a challenge for upper body strength. It began with tiered parallel bars that you had to hop along to the top and jump down three steps (arms only), jump off, over the top of an eight-foot wall, run forward to a fifteen-foot wall with a rope, swing over the top, run up a zigzag of timbers till you were fifteen feet in the air, then swing along on monkey bars, a few of which wereintentionally loose. If you happened to hit those with the wrong grip, you fell off and had to start over again.

After that, one continued across multiple obstacles which included a tripod that rose thirty feet in the air and had two ropes extending down and out in two different directions, secured to two poles approximately seventy feet from the tripod. The object was to climb up metal steps, grab a rope, swing free of the tower and go for the bottom as fast as you could, kick a pole, drop to the ground, and run to the next obstacle.

The cargo net rose fifty feet into the air. We had to climb up one side and down the other, crawl under barbed wire on our stomachs and on our backs, run through zigzags over logs, swing on ropes to clear pits, then finish off with a final set of jungle-gym bars that routinely ripped the callouses from our hands. All this had to be done in the space of five to ten minutes.

Following the obstacle course came the timed four-mile run in combat boots and fatigues in the soft sand. Four miles in thirty minutes was the slowest allowable time. At the end of the run, we ran to the chow hall for lunch. After lunch, we put 350-pound IBSs on our heads, walked them a mile and a half to the ocean, rowed them through the waves, rowed for miles and miles, and then landed them on the rocks in front of the Hotel del Coronado. There’s nothing that quite compares with surfing an IBS into a rock wall! If anybody made a mistake, we ended up like a box of toothpicks slammed by the ocean into the rocks.

The fifth week of training was hell week, of which it was said, if you lasted to see the sunrise on Wednesday morning, you’d probably make it. Hell week was basically a five day continuous triathalon performed without sleep. During hell week, we always had our paddles, our IBS, a kapok life jacket, and boots with us. We never went anywhere without them.

For Class 54, hell week started in late October on a Sunday night after our lockers were carefully inspected (officers and enlisted were all in the same barracks). The uniform of the night was combat boots, swimming trunks, kapok life jackets, and a helmet. Our class was assembled and equipment laid out on the lawn as the sprinklers were turned on to get us wet and cold from the very start. After an hour, we were briefed on the night’s mission, which was to row the IBSs to the Hotel del Coronado boat house (two miles), portage to the North Island Navel Air Station fence (one mile), row a mile back to the Hotel del Coronado rocks, land at night on a flashlight signal, portage over the rocks, row four miles south, portage across the highway, then row ten miles back to the Naval Amphibious Base for mid rats (midnight rations), which would be served at midnight. The week’s activities were all evolutions competing against each boat crew with points awarded. The boat crew with the most points got to retire early, on Friday afternoon; the rest of us would continue until Saturday morning. Obviously, there was a lot of incentive to come in first. That first night we rowed all night, arriving back at the UDT area at six A.M. We changed into clean fatigues, went out for inspection, and all had to hit the bay. Calisthenics were as usual for the next two hours, then we deflated our IBSs, put them in a truck, and were taken to the Imperial Beach mudflats, which was more likely part of the Imperial Beach sewage treatment plant. For the remainder of the day we held races in the mud, using telephone poles that had lain in the mud for years and were waterlogged and heavy. Each team had to lift a pole from one side, up over our heads and down the other side. It took all the strength we had to lift the pole. At lunch we ate in the mud; the box lunches ended up being part mud and part food. The remainder of the afternoon was a repeat of the morning. At the end of the day we got back in our IBSs and rowed to Coronado, six miles away. The rowing would not have been bad except that the instructors kept trying to run over the inflatable boats with a high speed UDT/SEAL delivery craft. We constantly had to dump boat, stop, turn the IBS upside down, let the water drain out, flip it back over, get back in the boat, and start rowing again, just in time to nearly be run over again. We got to the UTD training area in time for dinner. We ate dinner, ran four miles, then had an operations briefing, the same as the night before. Again we rowed to the Hotel del Coronado, portaged across the highway and north to the North Island fence, then rowed to the Hotel del Coronado rocks again. During the landing one of my crew got between the boat and the rocks. The next wave crushed him, resulting in four fractured ribs. The injured crewman was taken to the dispensary and “rolled back” to the following class. The remaining six of us portaged down the beach, back into the ocean, stopped for dinner at midnight, and rowed until morning.

Tuesday was explosives day. After morning calisthenics, we deflated the IBSs, then rode in trucks to the demolition range for explosive ordnance qualification. We crawled, crawled, and crawled while quarter-pound blocks of TNT blew up around our heads; walked across a rope bridge while an instructor on one end tried to shake us off into the mudpit below while the TNT continued to detonate around us. The noise from the explosions was terrible. As the concussion hit, we felt the pressure waves against our bodies. The smoke, mud, and sand flying through the air made it impossible to see, and the smell of the TNT was horrible. Our orders were “don’t stop, don’t hold your breath, keep your head and face down, and keep moving.” When this was finished, we got back in the IBSs and rowed north. As luck would have it, the wind was blowing south and it took the remainder of the day to row the boats back to the training area. We had dinner, ran four miles, and once again had night evolutions, carrying the IBSs and rowing until dawn. As always, we tried as hard as we could so we could get more points than the other boat crews. Thinking back on it, it’s amazing how close the scores stayed despite the fact that the instructors would offer bonus points if you finished each evolution just a little faster or did this or that, requiring more and more exertion from a body that hadn’t had any sleep since Sunday night.

The all-night evolutions on Tuesday night were shorter than usual. We arrived back at 4:00 A.M. for the next evolution. We assembled for inspection in new dry uniforms, wet kapok life jackets, swimming trunks, and combat boots. Then, one by one, officers first, we snapped our life jackets onto a quarter-inch rope, and jumped into the 55-degree water of San Diego Bay. The instructor said if we could kick hard enough to straighten out the line at the end of the pier they’d let us out of the cold water and into the hot showers. The only problem was, the current at the end of the pier was faster than anyone could swim, so straightening the line was impossible. A couple of times the instructor said, “Okay, I’ll let you get out and see if you can get organized. You have three minutes.” Only the first half of the men on the line could get out of the water before the three minutes was up, and they had to get back in. An hour and a half later, as the sun rose, the drill was over. Now I knew why if you saw sunrise on Wednesday morning, you’d probably make it through hell week.

We had five minutes to shower, dress, and report back dry for inspection for our next evolution. After inspection we were told to hit the bay again, and we started Wednesday. Calisthenics, IBSs on the head over to the beach where we participated in sand calisthenics, sand races, sand fights, everything we had done at the mudflats, but this time in sand.

That afternoon we took our IBSs to the pool. We swam races while holding towels in our hands, and held every other kind of race the instructors could think of, climaxing with a game of king of the mountain played on an IBS turned over in the middle of the pool. The instructor awarded maximum points for whichever boat crew ended up as King of the Mountain.

After dinner we had another evolution, the Big Dance—Chief Jones playing the radio with everybody dancing with each other in kapok life jackets. He’d stop the music and read the advertisements from a magazine, including prices and manufacturing details; when he finished reading the advertisement he’d ask questions about it. As long as we could answer the questions correctly we didn’t have to hit the bay. As soon as one person made a mistake everybody went into the bay one foot. If we got the answers right, we got to come out one foot. If we got the answer wrong, we went another foot deeper in the water. Another answer wrong, three feet into the water. Another answer wrong, and we were four feet into the water. Another answer wrong, and then we were floating. Needless to say, there was a lot of incentive to pay attention, and we stayed dry.

Wednesday night’s evolution was Treasure Hunt night—the treasure hunt consisted of solving riddles to find treasure. When your boat crew solved the riddle, you carried the boat on your heads to find the treasure. Of course the more treasure your team could find, the more points you received. We probably walked 25 miles that night. We were still walking at sunrise on Thursday morning. Next we did calisthenics, deflated the IBSs, packed them up into trucks, and went back to the mudflats—the same fun as before, but enjoyed by a lot fewer people. By this time, less than two-thirds of Class 54 was left. As people were injured or quit, boat crews were combined so each boat had five to seven people. When we finished in the mudflats that afternoon, the instructors were back out in their boats trying to run us over as we rowed back to the base.

When we arrived, we were told to get cleaned up, we were going to have a walk and then a rest. One of the instructors took off walking so that everybody had to run to keep up with him. We were tired and he could walk fast! We finished a four-mile walk around the base, and were then told we could grab a blanket and lie down in the athletic field as long as we didn’t close our eyes. If we closed our eyes—we’d end up in the bay, singing. Of course, everybody ended up hitting the bay singing! After that we rowed down to the mudflats, had mid rats at midnight, and rowed back. The row back was the most unsettling time of the entire hell week because by this time we were hallucinating from lack of sleep. People thought they were in the surf zone instead of in the bay, they thought they saw the San Diego Ferry off-loading cars directly in front of them, and threw the paddles out of the boat thinking they were snakes. When we arrived back at the UDT training area Friday morning, I swore that it had snowed in the bay. The rest of the morning we again spent in the sand with the IBSs. After lunch we again had IBS races in the pool and another game of King of the Mountain. At four that afternoon, the winning boat crew got to retire. The rest of us went to dinner and got ready for that night’s evolutions of races and rowing. We were told if we could row the mile to the Hotel del Coronado boat house and back in a set period of time we would be released from hell week—but all of us had to make the time to be released. On the first try we missed the time by a few minutes. On the second, we missed by a few minutes. The third we ran across the Coronado’s golf course, took every short cut we could, and still got back a few minutes late. At midnight we were standing in the UDT training area beleaguered to say the least, when it was announced that it was all over—we’d made it through hell week!

That night we were locked in the barracks with a guard at our door. It was feared that disorientation from exposure and sleep deprivation would endanger us. In the morning we had a medical examination. All of us had swollen hands and feet from cellulitis.

Looking back on it, hell week is part of what makes SEALS who they are. It’s been part of UDT/SEAL training from the beginning, during the Second World War at Ft. Pierce, Florida. The purpose of the week is to push individuals past their physical and psychological limits. If you could withstand this challenge, nothing in the future would appear impossible. Many times in Vietnam when faced with what appeared to be overwhelming odds, I knew that my men and I could complete the task because we’d already been through worse: hell week.

Following hell week, the second phase started with two weeks of weapons training. We were all too beat up to do much of anything else; however, calisthenics didn’t change at all. The instructors were there to remind us that we had just started training and had a long way to go. Things would get more difficult every day. During the two weeks of weapons training, our hands and shoulders were sore from firing more rounds than I thought any human being would shoot in a lifetime. We shot the weapons, cleaned them, disassembled them, reassembled them, and shot them again untilwe knew every weapon like the backs of our hands.

As things progressed during the second phase, we started traditional underwater hydrographic reconnaissance. We learned how to survey a beach in every possible manner; by day, by night, in plain view and clandestine. The best part of this phase was “cast and recovery.” Wearing diving masks, fins, and UDT life jackets, we rolled off an inflatable boat attached to a moving LCPL (Landing Craft Personnel Launch) into the water, so that everyone was spread out at different intervals in a long thin line and could swim towards the beach on reconnaissance. We moved all the way up to the high-water recording everything with a pencil on a plexiglass slate and then would swim back out to form a recovery line. The LCPL would then return snatching each man up into the IBS. Holding a rubber hoop in his arm, one student would kneel in the IBS. As it approached, we’d kick our swim fins hard, bringing our upper bodies high out of the water, hook an arm and he’d catch it with the rubber hoop. We would grab our hooked arm with the other arm and be flipped up on to the IBS, then scramble into the LCPL so that the recovery man could grab the next person in the recovery line.

In addition to the traditional UDT cast and recovery, we learned helo swimmer cast, in which we swung through the “hell-hole” on a CH56 Sea Knight helicopter and dropped ten to fifteen feet at ten to fifteen miles per hour. These are the techniques utilized in combat situations to enable UDT/SEALs to complete reconnaissance and locate any mines in enemy waters and remove underwater obstacles, before an amphibious assault or scouting a beach position.

As we became proficient in conducting hydrographic surveys, we started learning demolition and commando reconnaissance tactics. First we learned land navigation and how to move rapidly over rough terrain. We then moved on to small-unit tactics, which included basic reconnaissance, patrolling, and ambush techniques. Daytime patrols and navigation were followed by night exercises, with us stumbling through the backyards and running away from the barking dogs of Cardiff by the Sea, a small town north of San Diego. We practiced navigation and raiding problems near the Imperial Beach Naval Air Station and the Mexican Border. Each day seemed longer and each day the calisthenics grew harder. By Thanksgiving, we were climbing thirty-foot ropes using two ropes, one in each hand, to the top then back down again. We would hang on the pull-up bars while the instructors tried to dislodge us using quick punches to the abdomen from six inches away, counting how many times you’d swing on the bar. We never stopped running the obstacle courses, running in the sand, or swimming in the ocean. The currents became stronger and the water was cold for those two-mile swims. The day after Thanksgiving we left for San Clemente Island sixty miles off the coast of Los Angeles for three weeks of demolition/explosive training.

The training on San Clemente Island was different because everything was “real.” Real bullets, real dynamite, and real plastic explosives were used. We started with double daylight savings times, which meant all watches were turned back two hours to allow more daylight time for training. This meant calisthenics began at 5:30 A.M., actual time, in the dark. Calisthenics lasted for two hours, followed by breakfast then application training with explosives and weapons. Each day the practical training was mixed with distance runs and swims—ocean swims up to six miles. Each evening we were back in the classroom learning more about explosives, demolition, and small-unit tactics. Before every meal we had to do 25 pull-ups and 25 dips on the parallel bars just to get through the door of the chow hall. If we didn’t, we got to fly “the butterfly,” a wooden shipping pallet with a butterfly painted on it. One flight meant holding the pallet on your back above your head, and running up the side of a 200 foot cliff and back to the training area.

Throughout training, the physical and psychological stresses increased, more was demanded and more was expected. The reason for such intense training was to test the students’ physical, emotional and mental abilities under adverse conditions. Because we were continually being pushed, we didn’t realize we were getting stronger physically and growing more proficient in our skills. The instructors for the San Clemente portion of the training were all experienced SEALs with recent tours in Vietnam. They taught us what they knew we would need to know to stay alive and accomplish our missions in Vietnam.

The eighteenth week of training was hell week in another form. The physical and mental demands were great, but this time we were required to think in addition to just performing physically. Simulated combat conditions were maintained throughout the week with selective live fire from numerous machine guns as well as explosive charges simulating enemy fire. During each 24-hour period, we received 4 to 6 hours of rest with all other time devoted to preparing and running the full-blown operations. One of the operations was a traditional UDT beach reconnaissance with demolition of an entire underwater obstacle field using multiple forty pound packs of plastic explosives. We had to free dive twenty or thirty feet to set the explosives on the obstacles. The operation went without a hitch. It’s amazing what that much plastic explosive blows up—the noise, water and dead fish were incredible! When we rechecked the demolition area, the massive concrete and steel obstacles were gone.

The night inland raids were a different story. The first night we attained the objective without difficulty. Everything went well: Using our IBSs we had a long row to the beach, a long row out, arrived at the target undetected, and escaped without difficulty. The second night went well until we were going back out through the surf. A storm was moving in and the waves were ten to twelve feet high. The last IBS was flipped straight up and over, with a loss of all weapons, and the other boats had to go back to recover the crew. The next day we were back out, diving to retrieve the weapons and salvage the IBS which had been shredded on the rocks.

We returned from San Clemente Island to the Marine Training Center at Camp Pendleton for field exercises in which half of the group fought the other for three days in simulated commando operations. When we were finished, we returned to the Naval Amphibious Base in Coronado, cleaned our weapons and left for Christmas leave. By this time, Class 54’s training group had dwindled to below sixty officers and enlisted.

After Christmas leave, we spent six weeks in diving training, learning to use scuba, semi-rebreathing and full rebreathing diving systems. Physical conditioning was harder than ever but by then our bodies were ready to take it. Diving training in the pool went fast. The instructors tried to make things difficult by doing such things as taking our regulators apart while we were at the bottom of the pool so that we had to breathe from the diving bottles to continue a swim. We conducted bounce dives in the ocean to the depths of 200 feet and spent a lot of time on the bottom of San Diego harbor using an attack board which had a depth gauge, watch, and compass secured to it. The dives were always long and cold, whether they were at night or during the day—the 55-degree temperature of the water never changed. On each dive, we were tied to a diving partner by a six foot line and worked as a single unit to accomplish a job. On each combat swim, one swimmer held the attack board and maintained the team on course and time; the other held onto the navigator’s elbow, served as a look-out, and counted the number of kicks as a backup for navigation. During night dives, your diving partner always put pressure on your arm to let you know that you weren’t alone. Each dive was at a specific depth over a set course, and was evaluated by how close one came to the target. After a while, partners knew how many kicks it would take to swim each one hundred yards, and how long it would take. For my partner and me, it was usually three minutes per one hundred yards.

We continued to endure physical conditioning, obstacle courses, and timed runs right up to graduation. About a quarter of my training class that started UDT training still remained. Just before graduation, everyone received orders for final team assignments. Approximately the top fourth of the class went to SEAL team One, then commissioned, with the remainder being divided between the U/D Underwater Demolition Teams eleven and twelve.

After reporting to SEAL Team One at Coronado, personnel went to Army parachute school and then returned to cadre SEAL team training: physical conditioning continued. Great attention was paid to ground commando tactics—learning how to operate as a seven-man squad and as a fourteen-man platoon against the Vietcong. There was more weapons training with much attention on foreign weapons, the Stoner weapons system, and other devices utilized by SEAL Team One. The emphasis was on not being seen or heard and the ability to react if discovered.

We practiced rappelling from helicopters, rapid insertion, emergency extraction, and extraction by helicopter, boat, and any other means possible. The training included combat first aid, fire movement and maneuvering, unarmed combat, controlling ambush encounters, ambush techniques, booby traps, and tactics.

Each training exercise was designed to hone the skills necessary for a successful mission behind enemy lines. Proficiency in land warfare skills was obtained by teaching a particular subject in the classroom followed by practical application with hands-on experience in the field under the watchful eyes of the instructors. Each session was followed by a critique of performance with suggestions for improvement. We practiced each skill as a unit against a simulated enemy force first without ammo, then with blanks, and finally with live rounds. There was always a need to improve accuracy, timing, and teamwork. The constant repetition was never boring as we realized that every skill might be needed to stay alive in the very near future.

Throughout this training, we constantly tried to blend in with the undergrowth and move silently towards the target. In tactical training we worked in squads, each squad made up of an officer and six men. Patrols, combat maneuvers, immediate-action drills, and weapons’ firing were repeated until each was performed as an innate act with total precision. Always the emphasis was on small unit tactics, team work, and what to expect in Vietnam. During this phase of training, the drop-out rate was low (ten percent), primarily those individuals determined not fit to participate in SEAL operations. During the fourth and final weeks of training we held field exercises near the Salton Sea, the canals of which I later realized looked just like those of Vietnam at night.

SEAL team training was intended to hone one’s survival and judgement skills to the cutting edge. We were trained to react and to make split second decisions about a target that could be friend or foe knowing that your judgement meant life or death.

With basic SEAL Team cadre training completed, we were assigned to our platoons. LTJG Joe Quincannon was the officer in charge of Juliett Platoon, I was the assistant platoon commander. SM1 Larry LePage, a first class petty officer, was the ranking enlisted, and HM1 Doc Schrier was the independent-duty corpsman assigned to our platoon.

The platoon began training all over again by reviewing how the two squads functioned within a platoon. It was important for us to know what to expect from each member of the platoon in a combat situation. After going through multiple field operations at the Salton Sea in southern California, our platoon left for Mares Island in Vallejo, California, where the Riverine patrol force trained because of its similarity to the canals in Vietnam. We worked for a week with the river patrol craft—day and night on multiple targets—to practice before deploying to Vietnam.

After Mares Island we returned to Coronado, then spent a week in the desert for familiarization with special equipment, and continued practicing night live-fire operations. When we returned to Coronado again it was almost time to leave for Vietnam. Everyone packed weapons, clothing, and miscellaneous items for deployment to Vietnam, packed up their apartments or rooms, put everything in storage, and departed on leave prior to deployment. When we returned, equipment and supplies were rechecked, and we loaded on the plane at the North Island Naval Air Station for a long trip on a C118 to Vietnam.

In Vietnam the SEALs were known as the men with green faces. The legend of the SEALs among the Vietnamese was that they came out of the swamp and went back into the swamp, they were never tired, they never slept, they never ate, and if they took you with them, you would never return. The Navy SEALs were among the combatants most feared by the Vietcong and North Vietnamese, and were among the most ferocious commandos in the world.

Many have perceived SEALs as clandestine commandos who eagerly volunteered for suicide missions. In fact, very few SEALs were killed in Vietnam, due to their courage and superior training, their awareness of the inevitable danger of the missions they undertook, and their skill at minimizing that danger. Teamwork was an essential element in accomplishing the mission of each operation. A successful mission was one in which the squad or platoon was able to arrive at its target, to complete its task, and leave, without having been detected. The missions of the SEALs in Vietnam included capturing high-level Vietcong for intelligence, reconnaissance, interdiction, ambush, and sabotage.

The SEALs’ total strength in South Vietnam never exceeded nine platoons, i.e. was never more than 150 men. In six years this group accounted for 600 Vietcong killed confirmed by direct body count, another 300 “probable” kills (according to intelligence reports), and in excess of 1,000 prisoners. Individual awards for valor were 3 medals of honor, 2 navy crosses, 42 silver stars, 402 bronze stars, 2 legions of merit, 352 Navy commendation medals, 51 Navy achievement medals, and hundreds of purple hearts. The targets were usually intelligence objectives of high value that could not be reached by conventional forces. During the Vietnam conflict, the Navy SEALs lost fewer than twenty men due to VC/NVA action. In addition, Navy SEALs contributed immensely to the intelligence effort, which is not measurable.

Nicolas E. Walsh
Lt., USA (ret.)




CHAPTER ONE

The Navy C-118 left the runway and circled to the north, then to the west, as we gained altitude leaving Guam behind. We were on the last leg of a four-leg flight from Coronado, California, to Tan Son Nhut Air Force Base, Saigon, Republic of Vietnam. The sun was setting as I looked back out the starboard window, watching the shoreline disappear behind a large, reddish, cumulus cloud. Our plane weaved in and out of the large clouds until we gained enough altitude to level out. I couldn’t get my mind off our next stop, Vietnam.

The plane landed at Tan Son Nhut at 0230 hours, 29 June 1970. I was one of fourteen men assigned to SEAL Team One, detachment Golf, Juliett Platoon. Out of the two officers and twelve enlisted men, only five had completed one or more tours of duty in Vietnam. The other nine, including myself, would be “in-country” for the first time.

Lt. J.G. Quincannon, “Mr. Q,” as we called him, was the officer-in-charge of Juliett Platoon. He had a slight eastern accent; dark, short curly hair; and was about five feet, ten inches tall. He had had a previous tour to Nam with SEAL Team One. He was easygoing, and the men of his platoon looked up to and respected him.

Ensign Walsh was second-in-command of Juliett Platoon. He had graduated with UDT/SEAL Training Class 54 and this would be his first tour to Nam. Mr. Walsh was six feet tall, medium build, dark hair, and even after he had just shaved, his dark beard would be exposed on his face. Mr. Walsh was very easy to get along with, but he was one gung-ho son of a bitch. He was quick-thinking, making wise decisions, and was in control of his men and surroundings at all times. He would never ask his men to do anything he wouldn’t do himself.

Signalman First Class Petty Officer LePage, the highest ranking enlisted man in our platoon, probably had more experience with SEAL teams in Vietnam than anyone else in our platoon. He was also the oldest man in our platoon. He had been shot in the ass twice and creased in the head by an AK-47 on a previous tour with SEALs. This was at least his third tour to Nam with SEALs, and maybe he even had another. LePage was five-ten, wore a crew cut, had brown hair, and came from New Orleans. He was fun to be around, on or off duty. He liked his whiskey and beer—it didn’t matter what kind, he drank them all. His nickname was Leaper, and for a good reason.

Radioman Second Class Petty Officer Bruce was six feet, two inches tall, brown eyes, brown curly hair, and a big mustache that looked like a set of Navy parachute wings. This was Bruce’s second tour to Nam with SEAL Team One. He was a good SEAL operator and a great asset to our platoon. Bruce was from California, and he wore hippie beads—or war beads, as we called them in Nam—around his neck.

Machinist Mate Second Class Petty Officer Sitter was another SEAL with Nam experience. At five-ten, he was a stocky man with light-colored hair. Sitter also enjoyed his beer on his free time. Sitter was from Oklahoma.

Engineman Baylett went through UDT/SEAL Training Class 52. This was his first time to Nam. Baylett had light brown hair, a round face, big ears that stuck out, and always had a shit-eating grin on his face. He reminded me of Howdy Doody, except for his Pennsylvania drawl and no freckles. Though six feet tall and stocky, he acted like Howdy. Maybe it was his Pennsylvania background. He was a great morale booster for Juliett Platoon.

Aircraft Ordnance Petty Officer Panella was about five-ten, with curly brown hair. He was from California and owned a gold Corvette. While back in the States the gas pedal was always kept to the floor and he couldn’t go through the gears fast enough. Being in Nam for his first time, like the rest of us new guys in SEALs, he was in for a treat.

Seaman Weber graduated in my UDT/SEAL training class, Class 53. Being from Nebraska, he had never seen the ocean before. He was six feet tall, with dark hair, a medium build, and brown eyes. Weber was a very quiet person, and it really took a lot to piss this guy off. This was his first time in Nam also.

Seaman Reeves was six feet tall with blond hair and blue eyes. His home town was St. Louis. He had also never seen the ocean until he joined the Navy. Reeves graduated in UDT/SEAL Training Class 53 with Weber and me. The three of us had been training together for a long time, and we knew each other pretty well. We would get to know each other even more as our six-month tour to Nam went on day by day. Reeves was a slim man and seemed to be very independent. He was to be second squad’s rear security.

Torpedoman Grimes graduated from Class 54. He was six feet tall, with blond curly hair and a thick blond mustache, dark eyes and an intimidating stare. Grimes was from California, and this was his first Vietnam experience. His dad had been a boxer, and he boxed too. That’s where he earned his nickname, “The Dude.”

Radioman Seaman Shannon was the tallest man in Juliett Platoon, close to six-four with dark hair and brown eyes. This guy always had a smile on his face; a man couldn’t ask for a better friend. If Shannon said something, he meant it. Like Mr. Q, Shannon had a slight eastern accent. He came from UDT/SEAL Training Class 54, and grew up in Baltimore.

Ship Fitter Pipe Fireman Strausbaugh was also from Class 54. He was the shortest man in our platoon, but a stocky man. At five-nine, he had light brown hair with a thin blond mustache. He was a quiet guy, but absorbed everything around him. His job was point man for second squad.

Hospital Corpsman First Class Petty Officer Schrier was from Oregon. He was six feet tall, a slim man. He had dark hair with a curl in the front and a trimmed dark mustache. Like LePage, he loved his beer and had plenty of Vietnam experience with SEALs. The medals on his chest proved that. Like most corpsmen in the service, he received the nickname “Doc.” When Doc spoke, everyone listened. Maybe that’s why Doc carried the PRC-77 radio for our platoon. I never could understand why a cowboy would join the Navy. He was always in control of all situations that came up, and was quick-thinking, with sound advice and suggestions, even when he drank too much beer. Everyone in our platoon liked Doc, looked up to him and respected him.

Seaman Young, in Nam for my first time. Nobody made me come here but myself. Blond hair, blue eyes, six feet tall, medium build, thin blond mustache. I was nineteen years old, well-trained, and was ready to do my duties for my country with thirteen of the best men I have ever met in my life. I was to be first squad’s rear security.

As we disembarked the plane, Lieutenant Boyhan, the SEAL officer in charge of Charlie Platoon, was waiting to meet us. Charlie was the SEAL platoon we were to relieve. Mr. Boyhan informed our officers that five SEALs were killed the day before in a helo crash. A slick had picked up the five men at a place called Sea Float, down on the Ca Mau Peninsula, for a ride to Saigon. Apparently the helo had been shot up on an operation but had not shut down to check out the damage it sustained. So it fell from over a thousand feet into the jungle below. By the time the other SEALs in the platoon geared up and reached the crash site, all the bodies had been stripped of weapons and usable gear. One of the men on the helo was on his way to Saigon to help Mr. Boyhan orient our platoon and welcome us to Vietnam.

What a welcome. I hadn’t even seen the enemy and already I was mad. SEAL-team and underwater-demolition team members are close, no matter which team they are from. I was shocked at the bad news, and I wondered if I would make it through my six-month tour.

We rounded up some transportation and loaded our gear for the trip to the Victoria Hotel, downtown Saigon. This hotel was made of concrete, and the walls were old but still had the marks from the wooden forms used when they were poured. The Victoria was one of the SEALs’ favorite hangouts in Saigon. As we checked in, LePage, our leading (senior) petty officer, suggested we meet on the roof of the hotel after getting settled. Weber, Reeves, and I got a room together on the sixth floor. I was surprised at how cheap it was compared to a hotel in the States, the equivalent of six American dollars. After entering our room, we looked under our pillows and beds for booby traps. After a while we decided to see what was up on the roof. Topside we found a swimming pool along with a bar, food, and—of course—bar girls awaited us there. I’d have to be pretty drunk to swim in the green, slimy pool, but LePage had arrived first and the partying was well under way.

Although the drug of the day was alcohol, some of the people in my platoon smoked pot. They were always trying to pull me aside to smoke a little with them, but being in a combat zone for my first time, I wanted to stay straight. Besides, I had never tried it.

As the day wore on and our beer consumption increased, we got rowdier. The bar girls sitting opposite us would stick their legs under the table and massage us with their toes. Being a young kid of nineteen, I wasn’t used to that sort of thing. They weren’t the best-looking things I ever saw, but I didn’t ask them to stop.

The next morning, despite having terrible hangovers, we found ourselves back at the airfield loading our gear on board the twin-engine C-117 that was to fly us south to Binh Thuy, a small town a few miles west of Can Tho on the south bank of the Bassac River. When we were airborne, I looked down and got my first peek at the Mekong Delta. Large rivers meandered through lush, dark green jungle, with man-made and natural canals entering the main rivers like blood vessels and veins. What wasn’t jungle was rice paddies or dikes holding out the water from a high tide from the South China Sea. Very few highways or roads could be seen.

We landed on the short runway at the Tactical Air Support Facility in Binh Thuy a short time later. All our gear was unloaded and stacked alongside the runway, awaiting a helo to take us to our final destination. Mr. Q, our officer-in-charge, and Mr. Walsh, our second-in-command, crossed the highway to the SEAL Quonset hut (the headquarters for all SEAL units in the Delta region), located at the Naval Support Facility. The rest of us waited by our gear. Soon they returned and informed us that a CH-34, a helo left over from the Korean War, was on its way. After landing close to our gear, we loaded up and headed southeast about forty miles down the Bassac River toward the village of Long Phu. The helo flew at a lower altitude than the C-117, and I got a closer look at the rice paddies, jungle, and small villages below. Sunlight reflected off the numerous waterways that flowed through the entire region. It was obvious that the Vietcong and North Vietnamese soldiers had thousands of places to hide and just as many escape routes. Capturing Charlie won’t be easy, I thought. A change in the pitch of the rotor blades tore me away from my thoughts.

Our helo started circling a South Vietnamese outpost on the south shore of the Bassac River. Looking down, I saw several plywood shacks resembling something on the outskirts of Tijuana, Mexico. A man down below threw a yellow smoke grenade out by the one-helo helo pad, and the pilot started descending for his landing. Located on the south bank of the Bassac River and the west bank of the Long Phu River, the camp covered about three acres. The two perimeters not along the rivers were protected by barbed wire, claymore mines, trip flares, lights, and sandbagged bunkers with interlocking fields of fire. This was to be my home for the next six months. Coastal Group 36, Advance Team 71. I noticed a thirty-foot tower at the southwest comer of the camp with .50-caliber machine gun mounted on top. Stationed at the camp were fourteen U.S. Navy SEALs, six MST (Mobile Support Team) members who ran our special shallow draft boats, a few Navy Seabees from MCB5 (Mobile Construction Battalion), and a few South Vietnamese sailors who ran the outpost. Three South Vietnamese “junk-type” river patrol boats were anchored in the Bassac just offshore.

We grabbed our gear and carried it over to our hootch. The Seabees had built several plywood hootches with tin roofs. Of course, they occupied the best ones. Our hootch had bunks stacked three high on all four walls, with room for our footlockers lined back to back down the center. This is where the SEALs and MST personnel bunked. I claimed a top rack, just above LePage. I had barely got my mosquito net hung when someone yelled, “Chow time.” Hell, that was one of my favorite times. I followed the flow of people to the chow hall, a larger plywood hootch located nearer the river. In the background I could hear a diesel generator that must have powered the camp. Inside, four large picnic tables were arranged on the left, serving counter on the right, all you could eat. After the noon chow I returned to my rack to straighten things out.

Because of our strange duty hours, SEALs didn’t have to pull extra duty in camp, like KP or perimeter guard. We did have to take turns burning the shit from the outhouse, but besides that, our free time was ours. Anytime we weren’t operating, we were on alert status. SEALs could be used anywhere, anytime, for anything that might come up. If one squad was operating and got into a “world of shit,” as LePage used to call it, and needed assistance, the free squad could be there in a matter of minutes. If another unit needed assistance, we were usually available.

That night I had problems trying to sleep. New country, new barracks, new rack, etc. LePage bitched half the night because of my tossing and turning. Next morning, after chow, I looked around for a new rack. All were taken. I borrowed a hammer, nails, some two-by-fours, and some plywood from the Seabees and built my own rack up in the rafters. It was hot as hell up there, but at least I didn’t have to listen to LePage bitch.

Five days passed before our platoon started operating, because the entire platoon had diarrhea from the Vietnamese drinking water. My fourth day in Nam I made fourteen trips to the head, a small two-holer on the west side of camp. I kept count by carving notches in the plywood with my K-bar knife as I sat there. My rear end was so sore, I felt I should have received the Purple Heart for my wounds.

On one of these fourteen trips, Mr. Q had beaten me there, so I took the hole next to him. “We have an op tonight, Young,” he said. “Mission briefing will be at 2000 hours [eight P.M.]. Man, is my asshole sore.”

At 2000 hours, myself, Quan (our Vietnamese interpreter), Mr. Boyhan, and five other SEALs from first squad met Mr. Q in the briefing hootch, an eight-by-fourteen porta tent with plywood floor. Quan was a South Vietnamese civilian who worked with Navy SEALs as an interpreter to keep himself from getting drafted into the South Vietnamese Army. Mr. Boyhan had stayed back with our platoon to go on the first two operations with each of our squads. Mr. Q began the briefing as soon as the door was secured. “Okay, listen up. Tonight’s operation will be conducted on Dung Island. We will depart camp at 0200 hours and proceed up the Bassac River. The MSSC [Medium SEAL Support Craft, or “medium”] will move around the west end of Dung Island and insert us in the small canal on the north side.” He pointed out the route on a picto map hanging from the wall.

“Our mission is to capture five high-level VC living on the island—” He paused for a moment. “—if capture is possible. If capture is not possible, we are to neutralize the targets. However, our main goal is to take them alive for Intel. Only first squad along with our interpreter Quan will participate in this mission.” Quan operated with both squads.

“The sky should be clear, with an air temperature of eighty-five degrees. Water temperature will be seventy-four degrees. There will be a slack tide with river current running seven kilometers per hour. Heavy triple-canopy jungle covers the banks of the canal, with dense brush and rice paddies farther inland.

“No other friendly units, American or South Vietnamese, will be operating on Dung Island. This is a free-fire zone.Second squad [the remaining seven SEALs] will be on standby in case we run into trouble and need help. We will use the medium for our insertion and extraction. After insertion, we will set up a perimeter while our boat leaves the area. After listening for a while, we will patrol to the village, make the snatch, and return to the extraction point. Our call sign will be Stingray-one. Second squad will be Stingray-two. The medium will be Alpha-one, and the LSSC [Light SEAL Support Craft or “light”] will be Alpha-two. The order of march will be as follows: Grimes, point; Quan, Mr. Q, Mr. Boyhan, Doc Schrier, Bruce, LePage, Strausbaugh, and Young as rear security. Final inspection will be at 2130 [nine-thirty P.M.] hours. Lost communication and emergency extraction will follow standard operating procedures. We have two OV-10 Bronco fixed-wing aircraft as air support from Binh Thuy. They take anywhere from twenty to thirty minutes to fly to our operating area from Binh Thuy. Are there any questions?”

I was being briefed for my first operation in Nam, but Mr. Q and Mr. Boyhan had been working on setting up the operation for two days already. “If there are no questions I’ll see all of you at the boat at 0130.” There were none, so after sterilizing the briefing hootch by putting away all maps and notes, we left to prepare.

I felt confident as I readied my gear for my first mission in-country. As a SEAL trainee, and while training with the platoon, I had done this many times. But this time it was for real. Depending on the officer-in-charge, SEAL teams are given a great deal of leeway as to what is worn on missions. I wore good old Levi’s jeans along with my blue and gold tee-shirt with a standard cammo top. Over the top I wore an inflatable UDT life jacket. Over all that I wore a special nylon vest that had five pockets sewn onto it to hold five plastic Stoner-box ammunition magazines.

Since I was rear security, I chose a Stoner 63-A light machine gun as my main weapon. The Stoner had a maximum rate of fire of one thousand rounds per minute and used disintegrating-link 5.56mm ammo. Depending how you set the Stoner up, it could be belt fed from the right- or left-hand side, or fed from a plastic box magazine with a 110-round capacity, or a metal aluminum drum with 150 rounds. A three-position gas port just back from the muzzle turned, to adjust the rate of fire from 700 to 1000 rpm. For backup weapons I carried the standard MK-2 K-bar knife with an MK-13 day-and-night flare taped to the knife’s sheath, and a mod. 15, .38-caliber revolver. Standard jungle boots were worn without socks. I hated socks. In the wet they would ball up in the bottom of the boots, keeping feet wetter longer. In my special-made nylon vest, given to me by Mr. Boyhan, were four Stoner boxes, a total of 440 rounds of ammo. There was another 110-round box in the Stoner itself. This gave me 110 rounds more than my standard ammo load, in case we got into a world of shit and needed extra ammo. That left me with an empty box magazine pocket at the rear of my vest for two M-26 frag grenades, one incendiary, and one smoke grenade. All equipment was bound with ordnance tape to keep it quiet and painted with flat black spray paint to prevent telltale reflections. I cammied my face, slid into my jungle boots, slung an LAW rocket over my back, grabbed my Stoner, and headed down to the water’s edge for inspection at 0130 in the morning.

While waiting for Mr. Q and Mr. Boyhan to arrive, we passed around a roll of olive-drab ordnance tape to seal off the bottom of our pants to keep out leeches. As I looked over the rest of the squad, I saw that they were as ready to operate as I was. Grimes, our point man, was wearing a full set of jungle-green left-pattern cammies. He carried a CAR-15 (a short-barreled M-16) with 300 rounds of 5.56 ammo, and three M-26 frags, one CS (tear gas) grenade, and one smoke grenade hung from the web belt attached to his H-harness. Two MK-3-A2 concussion grenades were also attached to his web belt, along with his K-bar knife. His face, the back of his neck, and his hands were cammied, and his blond, curly hair was hidden under an olive-drab triangular bandage.

Doc, the platoon’s corpsman, wore tiger-stripe cammies and a standard H-harness. Doc packed the PRC-77 radio, and two red-star parachute pop flares packaged in aluminum tubes were also taped to his H-harness. The tube contained the rocket motor, flare, and parachute. It could be launched by removing the cap from one end and placing it over the opposite end. While holding the metal cylinder in one hand and pointing it into the sky, the cap could be struck with a sharp blow from the other hand, causing the firing pin in the cap to ignite the rocket motor. This propelled the red-star signal and parachute to a height of 650 to 700 feet. The flares came in different colors and were used to signal an emergency extraction in case our radios were not working. The flares also came in the illuminating type to light up an area. Along with an M-16 rifle, 300 rounds of ammo, his medical gear, and a cammied face, Doc was ready.

Bruce wore Levi’s jeans, standard cammo top, and jungle boots. He packed an M-16/XM-148 grenade-launcher combo. He carried twenty high-explosive 40mm grenade rounds along, and 360 rounds of M-16 ammo in thirty-round magazines in his specially made vest. Also attached to his vest were two M-26 frags and two illuminating parachute flares. The firepower from the M-16/XM-148 was unreal. Bruce was a one-man army by himself.

LePage wore standard cammies, top and bottoms, and packed the Stoner, with 550 rounds. He carried two frags, one concussion, and a yellow smoke, along with extra prisoner-handling gear, plastic flex handcuffs, and extra ordnance tape for blindfolding and gagging. It added very little weight.

Wearing jeans and standard cammo top, Strausbaugh was also an automatic-weapons man, humping the M-60 machine gun. With 450 rounds of 7.62mm linked ammo wrapped around his chest and in his weapon, he was ready to go. Our M-60 machine guns had been modified to reduce weight and increase handling capabilities. The standard butt was replaced by the rubber cup used by helicopter door gunners, and the bipod and front and rear sights had been removed. The barrel was shortened and the flash suppresser moved back almost even with the gas piston. Even this small amount of work made the M-60 considerably lighter, being about sixteen pounds instead of its original twenty-three pounds, as well as making it shorter and more maneuverable. A couple of frags completed his armament.

I looked toward the briefing hootch and saw Mr. Q, Mr. Boyhan, and Quan heading in our direction. Boyhan and Quan both carried M-16s with our standard load of ammo. Mr. Q also packed a Smith & Wesson model 39 semiautomatic 9mm pistol in a shoulder holster, and two extra magazines, two frags, two concussion grenades, and a starlight scope. Levi’s jeans and standard cammo top seemed to be popular that night. Mr. Boyhan was dressed similar to Mr. Q, who inspected Quan and the rest of our squad to make sure all gear was taped down and all essential equipment was present. From the months of training together, everyone knew his personal job on this patrol. We knew each other’s habits and actions, and knew what to expect from each man. Arm and hand signals varied from SEAL platoon to SEAL platoon. Very few words, if any, were spoken throughout a mission. That was standard operating procedure.

The mobile support team (MST) personnel had already squared away our boat and were standing by as we did some last-minute touch up on our cammied faces. A steel-plated deck attached to half-filled 55-gallon drums went down the muddy bank, out into the river, and were T-ed off. The drums helped stabilize the dock, which was hinged in several places to compensate for the tides. The tides from the South China Sea, six or eight miles downriver from us, affected the river for miles inland. A tidal change of several feet was experienced at Long Phu. With the help from some Seabees, Doc Schrier and Sitter had built the dock over the last couple of days. It made boarding the shallow-draft boats much easier than wading through the thick mud. At low tide our dock lay on the muddy bottom several feet from the Bassac River.

Everybody ready, we boarded the medium. First Class Petty Officer Melfa, the MST coxswain, backed the medium out into the Bassac. As the boat turned and headed upstream away from our camp, I watched our perimeter lights disappear in the dark night behind us.


CHAPTER TWO

Heading upriver on step—that is, fast enough for the boat to plane—Melfa switched on the radar to pick up other boat traffic in the area, which was rare at night, and terrain features. Using the radar was the only way to locate our insertion point in the dark. The medium was a shallow draft aluminum-hull boat with a catamaran bottom designed strictly for SEAL use. Powered by twin 427-cubic-inch big-block Chevy engines with 325-horsepower and Mercury outdrives with twenty-inch propellers, that mother had no problems getting us to or extracting us from our areas of operation in a hurry. The medium was thirty-six feet long, twelve feet wide, and nine feet tall from top to bottom. Maximum-load weight was 23,558 pounds, and it usually carried a crew of four to six men plus fourteen SEALs.

Our medium was armed with a minigun mounted on the stem, two .50-caliber machine guns mounted on either side aft, and two fixed M-60 machine guns mounted on both sides forward. Inside the craft, under a canvas top, were two long bench seats down the port and starboard sides. Melfa drove the boat sitting on a padded seat, with Mr. Q and Mr. Boyhan standing beside him watching the radar. The two other MST crew members sat on the benches ready to man the medium’s weapons. The rest of us SEALS sat on the benches in our pre-determined insertion order. The butt of my Stoner was resting on the deck with the muzzle pointing safely toward the canvas top. We had not yet locked and loaded our weapons, since we had a long way to go to reach the far side of Dung Island.

We seemed to be the only ones on the river that night. Not many American boats operated in the area, and anyone traveling the local waterways after curfew had to be Vietcong. I was thinking about how I was ready for the operation as we cruised through the pitch-dark night at top speed toward our objective. The west end of the island was located on our radar. We continued at top speed.

Then, without warning, the medium hit a sandbar barely sticking out of the water, coming to an abrupt stop. All on board flew forward and landed in a big pile on Mr. Q, Mr. Boyhan, and Melfa. Nobody knew what had happened until Mr. Q said, “Fuckin’ radar didn’t pick up on the sandbar.” There we sat, low tide, stuck in the middle of the Bassac River 0200 hours in the morning. Luckily, no one was seriously injured. Two A.M. in the morning, dark as shit, and I was scared. Melfa tried to back us off the sandbar, but that was useless; we were high and dry. The only thing we could do was wait for the tide to come in and float us off. So we sat there, taking turns looking through the starlight scope checking out the river upstream and downstream, to our port and the triple-canopy jungle to our starboard side. Through the starlight scope I could make out the long gouge cut through the mud behind us by the medium. With both engines shut down, everyone got as comfortable as possible and waited for the tide to come in. I expected the Vietcong to set up on us from shore and a B-40 rocket to come slamming into us at any time. Being a sitting duck for Charlie wasn’t my idea of a good time.

I was awakened by the sound of the boat’s engines starting. I looked at my diving watch. We had been there over an hour. Slowly, the boat maneuvered off the sandbar and backed into the main channel. Even though we were delayed, Mr. Q decided there was enough time left before dawn to complete the mission. We continued on, making our way around the west end of Dung Island and down the north side. The Bassac River was twice as wide and twice as deep—three to four fathoms, depending on the tide—on the north side of the island. The channel was used by large ships taking supplies upriver from the South China Sea. Moving a bit slower, we continued to use radar and the starlight scope to find our way. A smaller canal was soon picked up on the radar, running parallel with the Bassac back into Dung Island.

The signal was given to lock and load. The sounds of our weapons cocking filled the inside of the medium. As we approached the mouth of the canal, shots were fired off the starboard side, Charlie’s “jungle telegraph,” a quick way to warn his comrades of danger approaching. With individual Vietcong posted along likely approaches throughout the island, the VC leaders could be warned of American or South Vietnamese troops being in the area. Firing back would only give our position away even more and compromise the success of our mission. I crouched down below the gunwale, Stoner on safe and pointed away from my teammates.

Leaving the main stream of the Bassac behind us, we maneuvered down the smaller canal. The triple-canopy jungle quickly moved in on both sides. Mr. Q was glued to the radar, looking for a still smaller canal on the port side we were to use as our insertion point. Soon it showed on the radar.

The medium slowed to just about idle. We began our port turn into the smaller canal, which was only eight feet wide at its mouth, not wide enough for our boat. Melfa pulled it in until the bow ran up onto the muddy bottom. Then, as planned, five of us went over the port bow and the other four went over the starboard bow. Assigned as rear security, I was the last man to leave the boat off the starboard side. When I stepped off the starboard bow, I didn’t step far enough to the left, and missed the bank of the canal. Under the weight of all my gear, I went straight to the bottom. The only thing sticking out of the water was my right hand. I tried to push off the bottom, but my feet stuck in the mud. Too heavy to swim, too stuck to walk out. Just as I was ready to ditch all my gear and inflate my life jacket, someone grabbed my hand and pulled me up. Trying to gasp for air quietly, I set up security in my position with the rest of the squad. Bruce had saved my life. Even if I had inflated my life jacket and dropped all the gear, I don’t think it would have pulled me out of the mud.

The medium backed out and headed down the canal to make a couple of fake insertions and wait for our radio call for extraction. Listening to the medium’s engines fading away into the dark, I looked out into the jungle covering my designated field of fire. With the medium gone, I realized how completely alone we were. I had thought I was scared sittin’ in our boat on the sandbar in the middle of the river. But I was really scared now. I wished I was back at camp sittin’ on the shitter. We lay low in the mud, listening for enemy movement. But the normal jungle sounds slowly returned.

After twenty minutes or so Mr. Q signaled Grimes to check out the canal ahead. Grimes slipped back down into the canal and started to patrol. Quietly, one by one, we followed. We couldn’t get too far apart because of the darkness. Everyone kept an eye on the man in front of him and the man in back of him. For a moment I forgot about being scared. I watched the squad moving silently in front of me. The darkness and camouflage made them almost invisible. I watched behind us as the squad patrolled forward. Looking away from the others gave me the feeling of being completely alone. I turned back several times toward the others, just to make sure they were still there. After moving about forty meters inland, we stopped to listen again. I could hear movement on the canal banks ahead of us. Was it Grimes? The banks rose about three feet above our heads on both sides and were heavily overgrown with vegetation. At this point the canal began to narrow considerably. Was Charlie waiting for us to walk into an ambush? What about the warning shots we heard back by the main river? These thoughts registered in my mind as I crouched in the mud, covering our rear. The noise on the canal banks ahead stopped. We waited, listening.

Soon Grimes began patrolling again. We followed. After moving forward another ten meters we stopped again. The sounds of people, moving on the canal banks ahead of us, were louder this time. What a place to get ambushed, I thought. Word was passed back that Grimes had found booby traps along both sides of the canal and out in front of him. I don’t know how he found them in the dark. Since Charlie was aware of our presence in the area, Mr. Q decided to fall back to our insertion point. I received the word to take over point and lead us back out. I started out in the waist-deep mud and water. One step, then another. Stop, listen. One more step, then another. Was I going to be alive after my next step? What was the noise we heard on the canal banks? Ambush? I just knew I was going to trip a wire or step in a punji pit. I stopped again to listen. Was Charlie circling around to meet us at the canal? The fact that our squad had just come through the canal didn’t matter, I was being extra careful. We finally made it back to the mouth of the canal. As we set up a perimeter, Doc radioed the medium to extract us. We waited silently, watching and listening for Charlie. Soon I could hear the medium coming up the canal. Using the radio, Doc guided it into our position.

The medium came into our canal as far as it could. One at a time we waded out through the mud and water. Mr. Q and myself being last, we waded through the mud backward, covering our asses. Mr. Q and I were the last ones to climb over the bow of the medium. After a head count to make sure everyone was aboard, the medium was backed into the canal while we all trained our weapons on the banks. We proceeded out the canal and back into the Bassac River. Back around the west end of the island we went, watching for the sandbar on the radar and with the starlight scope. We reached our camp as it was nearing dawn.

We held a short debriefing after unloading the medium of all our gear. Before I washed the cammo off my face and cleaned up, I tore my Stoner apart and cleaned it thoroughly. After cleaning both my weapons and gear, I dumped the wet, muddy ammo into the Bassac then refilled the Stoner boxes with fresh, clean ammo. Not until all my weapons and gear were cleaned and squared away did I clean myself. Face paint was great for making us hard to see in the jungle, but it sure gave you a hard time washing it off. Some of the SEALs on this op were annoyed that we had made no contact with Charlie. I was just glad to get back to the shitter.
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